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JUDGMENT
{Summaons to Strike Out Claim & Set Aside Interim Injunctions)

The Plaintiffs are the original shareholders, directors and founders of WG Intermational
Real Estate Co. (Fiji) PTE Limited {which | will refer to as “WG Ltd™). The company
was established by the Plaintiffs in order to construct a multi-level building in Suva.
identified by the Plaintifls as the WG Friendship Plaza. The Firstand Second Defendants
are now the majority shareholders of WG Lid, They are also directors, along with the
Plainiffs, of the company. According to the Plaintiffs, the First, Second and Third
Defendants have taken over control and management of the construction of WG

Friendship Plaza.

The Plaintiffs have brought these proceedings to recover their shareholding and control
of WG Lid. The Plaintiffs” claim that the First, Second and Third Defendants fraudulently

wrested contral and majority ownership of WG Lid from them,

In order to protect their position, the Plaintiffs sought and were granted interim injunctive

relief on 1% December 2023 The interim orders being:

i. The First, Second, snd Third Defendant. and their servants and agents are hereby
restrained from proceeding with any adventising for sale. transfer, lease or the sale
of property, comprised in Certificate of Title - Volume 17, Folio 1833, DPF 2165,
Allotment B. Section X XXI. more commanly described as Lot 39, Macgregor
Road, Suva, otherwise known as the WG Friendship Plaza, until further orders of

ihe court.

ii. The First, Second and Third Defendant, their servants and agents are herchy
restrained from any changes or dealing with the share structure of WG
International Real Estate PTE Limited in the form of sale, purchase, assignment

or in any manner whatsoever until further orders of the court.

i The First. Second and Third Defendant, their servants and agents are hereby
restrained from marketing. advertising and or selling the strata titles of the WG

Friendship Plaza until further orders of the court.

| Ky v Ding [2023] FIHE 912 {19 December 2023),
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4] The Second and Third Defendants have filed the following summons:

A sammons striking out the Plaintiffs™ claim,

A summons 1o set aside the interim injunctive orders.

15] The First Defendant suppons the position of the Second and Third Defendants. The three

defendants argue that the Plaintiffs claim of fraud has no factual or evidential basis

whateoever and that the Plaintiffs have misled the Court by failing to disclose material

facts that undermine their case.

Background

[6] The material facts as elicited from the Plaintiffs” pleadings and the parties swom evidence

are as follows:

.

2013: WG Limited is incorporated. The Plaintiffs, who are married, are the
founding sharcholders and directors of the company. The shareholding split i

80v20 for Mr Xiaolons Hu and Ms Lijuan Zheng, respectively.

2016 to 2019: The first named Plaintiff, Mr Xiaolong, has a business relationship
with' the First Defendant’s father-in-law (Xu Jinliang) and the Second
Defendant's father (Cao Baitian), Several agreements are executed between the
parties from 2016 and 2019 refated, in the main, to the construction of WG

Friendship Pluza (which 1 will refer to as the ‘Business Agreements’).”

2% September 2006: The first of the Business Agreements is executed. It is
hetween the first named Plaintif and Xu Jinliang, According to the English
translation, in exchange for a contribution from Mr Jinliang he will receive 2
304 shareholding allocation in WG Lid,

7 December 2016: Resolution is passed by A Plus Investment Pie Lid (which |

will refer to-as *A Plus™ to sell shares 10 WG Limited.

I Coples of each of the Chinese agreements along with an English transintion have been produced by the First and

T hird Defendanis.
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9 December 2016: A Share Transfer Agreement is executed transferring A Plus
shares to WG Limited.

2017: WG Limited applies to Suva City Council for permits to construct the WG

Friendship Plaza. The construction of the Plaza appears to commence this year,

23 March 2017: According to the Third Defendant, he begins working for WG

Ltd from this time.

1% December 2017: The second of the Business Agreements is exccuted
between Cao Baitian and the first named Plaintiff. According w the English
translation, in exchange for a contribution by Mr Cao of 5 million RMB he

obtains a corresponding financial interest in the WG Friendship Plaza,

2&4 April 2018: Shereholders Resolution Approving Mew Share Issuance (“the
201% Resolution™) for WG Limited is prepared and signed by the First and
Second Defendams (it is not signed by the Plaintiffs until, allegedly, 28 July
2019y, The 2019 Resolution purports to transfer 44% of the PlaintifTs’ shares in
WG Lid to the First Defendant and 8% 1o the Second Defendant. The 2019
Resolution speaks of u cash contribution by the incominz  shareholders,
calculated on the basiy of the net assets of the Company ending on Dee 31,
2647, 1o be made by 30 June 2020,

23 May 2018: The third of the Business Agreements is executed by xu Jinfiang,
Cao Baitian and the first named Plaintiff. According o the English translation,
Mr Jintiang and Mr Baitian agree to increase their contribution in the WG
Friendship Plaza in exchange for a sharcholding in WG Lid of 10% and 9%

respectively.

24 June 2019; The fourth of the Business Agreements is executed by the three
parties; the first named Plaintiff, Xu Jinliang and Cao Baitian. According o the
English translation, this agreement represents a resolution of outstanding
disputes heétween the parties. 1L is agreed that based on contributions already
mude by Mr Jinliang snd Mr Baitian they will receive a shareholding in WG Lid
of 44% and 5% respectively. It is noted that Mr Baitian had paid 3 million CNY
(Yuan). It is agreed that ‘fufithin seven davs from the date of signing this
agrecment, each shareholder shall complete the necessary procedures for
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changing the ownership of shares in covrdinatlon with euch other’. The
agreement deals with other aspects of the construction of WG Friendship Plaza
including managing the development of the project. The agreement provides
that the controlling shareholder will be responsible Tor the actual operation and
management of the project and the other shareholders will have participation and
advisery rights in operational matters. Provision is also made [or existing assets.

The agreement provides:

Real Estate flocated in Nasese, Suval; Sell the originally aequired real
estate af an appropriate tme and invest the proceeds {n the construction

af subseguent profecis.

25 June 2019: The fifth of the Business Agreements is executed between the
first named Plaintiff and Cao Briain. The parties agree thal Mr Baitian’s

contribution will, in fact, constitute an 8% shareholding in WG Lid,

27 June 2019: The Plaintiffs retum to Fiji. On the same date, s meeting s held
al KPMG s offices 1o organise the share transfers as agreed in the agreements of
24 and 25 June 2019,

28 June to 17 July 201%: Emails are exchanged between KPMG and William
Wu {who is representing WG Lid). Mr W advises KPMG on |7 July 2019 that
the First and Second Defendants are 1o hold the WG Led shares for Xa Jinliang

and Cao Baitian respectively.

26 and 28 July 2019; The PlaintifTs say that there is an agreement in the Chinese
language executed on these dates with the First and Second Defendants. The
agreements allegedly provide that First and Second Defendants will contribute a
cash investmient to WG Lid based on the value of WG Lid as at 31 December
201732

28 July 2019: The Plaintiffs purporiedly sign the Sharcholders Resolution
Approving New Share Issuance for WG Limited prepared on 2 April 2018, The
Plaintiffs plead that their sipnatures are a forgery having been copied and pasted

' Paragraph 11 of Plaimiffs’ Statemem of Claim and paragraph 11 of Mr Hu's affidavit dored 5 December 2023, The
Plaingiffs have not produced a copy of these agreemenis.
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by the First and Second Defendants from the Chinese agreements dated 26 und
28 July 2019,

29 November 2009, The Plaintiffs leave Fiji to travel to China. They say they

are unahle o return to Fiji until 2023 because of COVID-19 resirictions.

2 December 2019 A Sale and Purchase Agreement is entered into between A
Plus and Anwar & Anwar Paradise Properties Lid for the sale of 193 Queen

Elizabeth Drive, in the amount of $1.15 million Fijian Dollars.

April 2020: The Third Defendant says he begins managing WG Lid feom this

Lime,

24 June 2020: The Plaintiffs plead that the share transfer wo the First and Second
Defendants (of 44% and 8% are cffected with the Companies Office on this date

following the filing of documemts with the Registrar of Companies.

19 October 2020 An extraordinary general meeting for A Plus is conducted.
Resolutions are passed appointing the First and Third Defendants as Direclors
and authorizing the Directors 1o execute the documents pertaining to the sale of
193 Queen Elizabeth Drive, Nasese.

& December 2020: A Transfer of Land is completed for the sale of 193 Queen
Elizabeth Drive, Nasese.

7 January 2021; The Plaintiffs write 10 the Registrar of Titles sgeking a caveat
over the Nasese property and contesting its sale, According to the contents ol the
letter, the Plaintifts purport to be the Directors off A Plus, advise that they have
not heen told of the sale and advise the Registrar that they wish to proteet their
interest, The letter further reads, * We are alse shareholders in WG fnternational

Real Extate Co ¢Fiji) Lid av 1o 48% of that compomn’

2% June 2021: The first named Plaintiff is notified by email of an extraordinary
general meeting for WG Limited.  the notification  being  sent o
ween (i vip, tadcom. The purpose of the meeting is also conveyed, being a

share restructure of WG Lid.

“ The Registrar refuses to register 3 cavead as the Plasilifls are not recorded as directoss of A Plus.
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23 July 2021; An extraordinary meeting is conducted. A resolution is passed

increasing the share structure of WG Lid.

27 October 2022: The Plaintiffs plead that the Registrar of Companies records

the share structure changes on this date.
18 April 2023: The Plaintifts return to Fiji,

24 May 2023: The Plaimifts’ solicitors write to the Registrar of Companies
seeking information a5 to how the share structure change w WG Ltd in 2022
could be made without the knowledge of all the directors. In the same letter, the
solicitors confirm the earlier sharehaolding arrangement of 48% 1o the Plaintiffs,
44% for the First Defendant and 8% for the Second Defendant.

14 June 2023: The Plaintiffs’ solicitors write to the Fiji Police alleging fraud

and theft by a number of persons. including the First and Third Defendants.

Present proceedings

[7] These proceedings were filed on | September 2023, The Plaintiffs’ plead the following:

ni.

The First and Second Defendants fraudulently obtained shares in WG Lid by
forging their signaturés on the Sharcholders Resolution Approving New Share
lssuance for WG Limited and using the forged document o effect a change with

the Registrar of Companies.

There was fraud by the Third Defendant unlawfully and fraudulently arranged for
the share transfer changes with the Registrar of Companies, namely the transfers to
the First and Second Defendants in June 2020 and the share structure increase in

October 20027

I'he filing of the share transfer by the Third Defendant in June 2020 was in hreach

of s 242 of the Companies Act 2015 and reg 10 of the Companies Regulations 201 3.

“ The Plaintiffs’ do not particutarise how the Third Defendant's conduct was fraudulent (of unlawful],
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i

i, The Fourth Defendant was negligent, reckless or indifferent with respect (o
recording the share changes to WG Ltd without verifying the legitimacy of the filed

docurments,

v The First and Third Defendants fraudulently sold the Nasese property owned by A

Plus. They did not have authonty to do so.

vi. The First and Third Defendants broke into a safe located at the property at 193
Oueen Elizabeth Drive and stole the Plainilfs’ valuahles, including jewelry, in the
amount af F 154,400,

vii.  The relief sought includes orders reverting shareholding of WG Lid back to the
Plaintifis, the first three defendants account for the proceeds of the sale of 1493
Queen Elizabeth Drive, plus specific (519641 and seneral damages, interest and

cosls,

The Sixth Defendant filed a Defence on 19 October 2023, the Fourth Defendant on 23
October 2023, and the Second and Third Defendants on 27 October 123", The First

Dafendant filed & Defence and Counterclaim on § November 20237

he First, Second and Third Defendants deny the allegations against them, They state that
the First and Second Defendants shareholding in WG Lad is legitimate and supported by
the Business Agreements executed between 2016 and 201%.  The First Defendant

counterclaims on the basis that the Plaintiffs’ claim is an abuse of process.

On & Decemnber 2023, the Plaintiffs filed an Ex-Parte application for injunctive relief with
supporting affidavits by the first named Plaintift dated 5 December and 13 December
2023, Injunctive orders were granted on 19 December 2023 subject to the PlaintifTs’
filing an affidavit with an undertaking as 1o damages — the affidavit was filed by the first

named Plalntiff in January 2024,

On 14 December 2023, the Sccond and Third Defendants filed 8 Summons to strike out
the Plaintiffs’ claim against them on the basis that the pleadings discloged no reasonable

cause of action and the allegations of fraud were not sufficiently particularised, There

* The Second and Third Defendants are represented by the same solicitors.
T The First Defendant filed an Amended Defence and Counterclaim on 22 Nevember 2023,
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[13]

followed a further summons filed by the Second and Third Defendants 1o set aside the

injunctive orders. The Third Defendam executed aflidavits in support -

The hearing of the two summons proceeded on 2 May 2024, Counsel for all parties
sttended. However, only counsel for the Plaintiffs, the First Defendant, and the Second
and Third Defendants wished to be heard.

SUMMONS TO STRIKE OUT CLAIM

s Tivao. for the Second and Third Defendants, advanced two broad grounds for the
strike out by the Second and Third Defendans. Firstly, that the Plaintiffs’ allegations of
fraud had not been propedy particutarized and. secondly, the Plaintifts had not disclosed
a reasonable cause of action, Ms Tivaoe considered each of the Plainiffs’ allegations of

fraud as follows;

i, The share transfer to the First and Second Defendants: The allegation here by
the Plaintifts is that their signaturés on the Shareholders Resolution Approving
New Share Issuance of 2 April 2018 is a forgery, Ms Tivao stated that the Business
Agreements from 2016 to 2019 demonstrated that the First and Second Delendants’
sharcholding in WG Lid was legitimate. She submitted that the allegations by the
Plaintiffs in the pleadings were vague and general, and failed o properly specify
the alleged fraudulent actions. Ms Tivao pointed out that in Mr Hu's affidavit in
response, he accepted that he did receive funds from the Second Defendant as an
equity swap, which was in contrast 1o the pleadings that there had been no [inancial

consideration for the share transler to the First and Second Defendants.

ii.  The share restructure of WG Ltd in 2022: Again, Ms Tivao argued that there is
u lack of particularization of the fraud. Further, the facts available show that the
share struclure increase was legitimate,  She referred 1o an extraordinary
sharcholder meeting in 2021 where the increase was discussed. She stated that the
Plaintiffs accepted that the meeting occurred, that they were aware of it and knew
the purpose of the meeting but decided not o attend.," She submitted that in light of
the concession by Mr Hu there was no factual basis to suppont the share structure

increase having been fraudulent.

8 The first affidavit is dated 23 December 2023 and a Supplementary Affidavit ks doted 18 lanuary 2024,
* As per para 4 d of Mr Hu's Affidavit dated 3 Aprl 2024,
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iii.  The sale of the property at 193 Queen Elizabeth Dirive: Ms Tivao argued that
the Plaintiffs had no standing here as they did not. at any time, have any
shareholding or ownership in A Plus. Further, the Plaintiffs were aware that the

property would be sold as per the Business Agreement of 24 June 2019,

Mr Jamnadas. for the First Defendant. accepted that the Court has a discretion 10 order
further and better particulars where pleadings are not well formulated. He suggested that
this avenue was not available for the Plaintiffs because the uncontested facts ripped apart
the Plaintifts claims of fraud. For example, the Plaintiffs knew of the share transfer in
June 2019, they knew of the extraordinary meeling to discuss the share restructure in
26021, and they knew of the sale of the property at 193 Queen Elizabeth Drive. He
submitted that the pleadings. in its current form, were an abuse of process. He submined
that the authorities show that the courts will not entertain a dishonest motivation for
bringing a claim, He argued that there were blatant contradictions between the facts

pleaded in the Plaintiffs Statement of Claim and the facts deposed by Mr Hu i his

afhdavis.

Me. Cakau, for the Plaintiffs, stated that the Plaimiffs admitted the fact of the Chinese
Business Agreements, 1t appears. however. that the Plaintiffs” do not accept the English
translations because these documents were not signed by the Plaintiffs or ranslated by
registered trunslators, 1 sought Mr Cakau’s clarification of the Plaintiffs position on the

following:

i, Whether the Plaintiffs accepted thut they were aware of the extraordinary
meeting on 23 July 2023 and its purpose, Thene was acceptance of this, but it
was pointed out that the fraud in relation to the share structure increase
stemmed from the original fraud of the document of 2 April 2018, The original
shareholding transfer was fraudulent and, therefore, all actions by the First and
second Defendants {with the assistance of the Third Defendant) that followed
was fraudulent, Further, the Plaintiffs undersiood that they were the majority
sharcholders of WG Ltd and, therefore, believed that no changes could be made

to W Ld without their approval,

i The Plaintiff sccepied that the agreement of 24 June 2009 was originally signed
in the Mandarin version. The Plaintiffs position on the English translation was
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diffieult to understand. Counsel stated that the PlaintifTs do not recognize the
English translation despite the statement in Mr Hu's affidavit dated 3 April
2024, at 40 ¢, that he did accept the contents.'™ No cogent explanation was
offered by counsel for the Plaintiffs® position that they did not recognize the
English translation. The Plainiiffs did not expressly depose that the English
translation was inaccurate and, if inaccurate, which specific aspects of the

translation.

Decision on summons (o strike out claim

The summaons to strike out the Plaintifis” claim is made under Q.18 e, 18(1 Ha} and (d) of
the High Court Rules 1988, The provision reads:

The Court may al any stage of the proceedings arder o he strick owl or
amended any pleading or the indorsement of any writ in the action, or

arvthing in any pleading or fn the Indorsement, on the ground Hal-

falir discloses nme reasonable cause of action or defence, as the

case may be:
Fhir v voomdalans, frivolows or vexaiions,!

felif ey prefwdice, embarrasy ar delay the fair irial af the

GCEN o

(uliit iv atherwise arn abuse of the process of the Court,

and may arder the action io be staved or disnlssed or fudgment o be

entered accordingly. ax the case may be'!

The principles applicable 10 a strike out application are well settted. In Natiognal NBF

Finanee (Fifi) Limited v, Bidi [2000) FICA 28, the Court of Appeal siated:

The faw with regard jo striking cut pleadings Is wod in dispute, Apari from

trinly exceptional cases the approgeh to such applications is To assume

1" Coungel suggested that the Court disregrard this admission by W Ha
't Wiy emaphasis,
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that the factual basis on which the allegations contained in the pleadings
are raised will be proved. If a legal issue can be raised on the focts as
pleaded then the courts will not strike ot & pleading and will certainly mot
der xor on @ contention thar the facts canmol be proved unless the sitvation
is so strome that fudiciol notice can be taken of the falsity af a factual
comtention. It follows that an application of this kind must be determined

an the pleadings as they appear hefore the court. e

| 1§] Seneviratne J offered the following helpful discussion of the suthorities in South Pacific
Metaly Lid v Siltkivai [2021] FJHC 386 (15 December 2021} at [5]:

Tnt Card Zeiss Stiftung v Rayner & Keeler Ltd (No 3) [1970] Ci 506 it was feld
that the power given to strike oul any pleading or any Farl of a pleading under this
ridle s mot mandatory but permissive, and confers a discretfonary furisdiction 1o be

exercised having regard to the guality and all the drawmstances relating 1o the
afferiding plea.

In Drummond-Jackson v British Medical Associaiion (1970 | W.LE. 888
[197 | AR ER 1094 ir was held;

Over a fong period of years it hus been firmly established by many
authorities that the power to serike oul a statement of claim as
diselosing no rensonable cause of acrion fs a surmmary power which
should be excroised only in plain and obvious cases.

It the case of Walters v Sunday Pictorial Newspapers Limited J1961] 2 Al ER
761 ir was held:

It fs well established thar the drastic remedy of striking out a pleading
or, part of @ pleading, canmot be resorted to unless it is quite clear
thar the pleading obfecred to, discloses no arguable case. Tndeed, it
has been conceded before us that the Rude is applicable arly i miin

et phYrois cases,

YAy emphasis.
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Tt Narawa v Native Land Trust Board [2003] FTHC 302: HBCO2324 1995s (11
July 2003) the court made the flowing observarions:

Tt the context of this case I find the following siaterment of Megarry
V.C in Cleeson vJ. Wippell & Co. [1971] | W.L.R 510at 518 apt:

“Eirst. there fs the well-senled requiremnent that the
Jurisdiction to strike out an endorsement oF pleading,
whether wmder the mules or under the inherent
jurisdiction, should be exercised with great ca stion,
and only in plain and obvious cases that are clear
beyond doubr. Second, Zeiss No. 3 [1970] Ch. S04
eorablished that, as had previously been assumed, e
furisdiciion wnder the rules i discretionary; even ifthe
meatter is or mgy be ves judicata, it may be better not
10 strike out the pleadings but to leave the matter o be
resofved at the rrial. "

[19] Pathik | provided the decision in Narawg v Nafive Land Truse Board."* His Locdship
further stated at page 4:

In considering this application | have also borne in mind the following
passage from Hatsbury's Laws of England 4 Ed Vol, 37 para. 434 on

abuse of process ' which 1 consider periinent:

“An abuse of the process of the court arises where fis
process is wsed, not in good faith and for proper
purposes. bui as a means of vexation or ppression or
Jor wlterior purposes, o, mare simply, where the
process is misised. fn such a case, cven if the pleading
or indorsement doos not offend any of the other
specifled growndy for striking out, the facis may sfow

that it constitutes an abwse of the provess af the court,

I Sy emphasis,
1 [2003] FAHC 302 (11 July 2003 )
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[21]

amd on thix grownd the cowrt may be fustificd fn striking
out the whole pleading or Tndorsemeny or any offending
part af it . Even where a party siricily complies with
the literal terms of the rules of court, yet if he acts
with an witerior morive o the prejudice of the opposite
party, he may be guilty of abuse of process, and where
stibseguent events render whal was originally
mainiaineble aeifan one which becomes inevitably
doomed to fallure, the action may be dismisved as an

abuse of the procesy of the cowrr. "

The Court’s power to strike out a8 claim must be sparingly used and only in clear and
ohvious cases. A party ought not to be denied access to the courts unless the cause of
action is so untenable that they cannot suceeed. Even where a case appears weak. such
that it is unlikely to secceed, this does not suffice to warrant striking out. 1L 15, however,
an abuse of the process of the court for a party to bring a case otherwise than in good faith
or for proper purposes. A claim may be struck out for disclosing no reasonable cause of
action, The facts must be taken as pleaded in the Statement of Claim unless admissions
to the contrary by a plaintiff is deposed. An interlocutory application is not the time to

resofve factual disputes.

The primary cause of action pleaded against the Second and Third Defendants (as well as
the First Defendant) is fraud. The PlaintifTs allepe that the First and Second Defendants
fraudulently made themselves shareholders of WG Ltd by using a document they Knew

10 be forged to effect this, The PlaintifTs® plead as tollow:

i. The First and Second Defendanms forged their signatures on a Sharcholders
Resolution Approving New Share Issuance for WG Limited dated 2 April 2018.
The Resolution purported o transfer 44% and 8% of the shares of WG Lid 1o the
First and Second Defendants. respectively. The Plaintifts never signed the 2019

Resalution,

ik The signatures were copied and pasted from a Chinese agreement executed with
the First and Second Defendants and dated 26 and 28 July 2019, This agreement

" My emphasis,
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i,

iv.

provided for the First and Second Defendants each making a cash mvestment
contribution of 4% and §% of the value of WG Lid as at 31 December 2017. The

deadling for making the cash investment was 30 June 2020.

The amount required by the First and Defendants to meet the 44% and 8% value
of WG Lid was $14,094.691.42 and $2.562.671.17. The First and Second
Defendants did not make any sueh cash contribution by 30 June 2020

The forged 2019 Resolution was used by the First and Second Defendants to effect
the transfer. The Third Defendant lodged the 2019 Resolution with the Registrar

of Companies on 24 June 2020

The Eirst and Second Defendants held the shares for third parties in China,

The Plaintiffs also plead that the transfer in June 2020 was irregular and unlawful, That

the filing by the Third Defendant was in breach of s 242 aof the Companies Act 2015 and

reg 10 of the Companies Regulations 201 ALY

I'he allegations against the Third Defendant are:

He unlawfully and fraudulently filed company documents on 24 June 2020, 3 Junc

1022 and 27 October 2022 without:

]

Notifying the Plaintiffs of meetings convened for the purpose of share

estructuring.'’

o Receiving approval from the Plamtifls.

o Convening a shareholder meeting for the purpose of increasing the share

structure of WG Lid, "™

o Ohbteining the Reserve Bank of Fiji's prior approv al and verification to change

the shiare structure,

" The Plaintiifs do not disclose how e tanster hreached these provisons.
i1 The Maintiffs now accept that they were natified of the meling.
I The Plaintiffs now accept that & meeting was convened.
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o Obtaining a resolution “including the Plaintiffs as Directors whase shares were
affected by the filing done .

il He, along with the First Defendant. fraudulently signed ofT on the sale of the
property at 193 Queen Elizabeth Drive. The allegation being that they did not
have lawful authority to sign as an authorized officer of A Plus or o sign the

Transfer form as a Director and Secretary of A Plus.

iii.  That the PlaintifTs only discovered that the property had been sold frandulently
when they retumed o Fiji in 2023 and that they have not received the proceeds

of the sale, '™

[24]) The share structure increase in WG Lid is pleaded to have oceurred in 2022, resulting in
a significant share increase for both the First and Second Defendants. The Plaintiffs have

alleged collusion on the part of the first three defendants,

[25]  The elements for establishing fraud were discussed by the Supreme Court in Kuar v Singh
[2022] FISC 19429 April 2022). Gates J stated:

[31] Observasions made in the speeches of the House of Lords on the
siehject of fraud in Bradfrd Thicd Eguitable  Benefit Buildling
Sociery v. Borders [1941] 2 Al ER. 205 make for an important
starting point, At p2l6H Lord Russell of Killowen said,

“To make a charge of fraud {5 o serfous thing, and before
people make it they should be cléar as to the grounds and

facts wpon which they rely and the basis of their charge. ™

F32] Lord Wright ar p2180 cantioned:

“The importance of the established vule that fravwd must be

precisely alleped and stvictly proved. ™

W Thix allepation is contradicted by the Plaimiffs’ letier of 7 January 2021 1o the Registrar of Thiles showing they
were then awarg of the snle.
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In the instany case meither of these reguirements were met. They fell

well helow the standard reqguifred.

[53] i the Bradfurd cave the Plaintiff had been unable to connect the
representative of the building society with o certain meeting and with
other communication inwhich the contraciors had made misieading
statements, orally and in a brochure, claiming the society had given
ity xupport o their compamy. The Plaintff foited before the Hivh
Clowrt, succeeded in the Court of Appeal, and failed agatn hefore the
Heowse of Lordy.

[54] Viscount Maugham set out at p21 1A the requirements of proof.

"My Lords, we are dealing here with @ common law acrion
of deceit, which requives four things to he established
Firse, theve must be o representation of fact made by words,
or, ft may be, by conduct. The phrase will include o case
where the defendamt has manifesily approved and adepied
a representation made by some third person, On the other
hand, mere sifence. however morally wrong, will rot
suppart an action of decein Peek v Gurney (20, af p. 39
per Lord Chelmyford, and at p. 403, per Lovd Cairns, and
Arkwrivht v, Newbold (31, at p.318  Secomdly, the
representalion must be made with @ knowledge that it i

false. I must be wilfully false, or at feast made in the
absence of amy genuine beliel thar it i irwe: Derry v, Peek
i4) and Nactan v Ashhurton (Lord) (30 Thirdiv, it must be
made with the intention that it showld be acted upon by the
plainiif, or by a class of persoms which will include the

pleingiff in the manmer which vesulied in damage fo fm:

Peck v, Gurney (2) and Smith v. Chadwick i6), at p, 200, If
however, frawd be establivhed, it is immetervial that thers
wers #in infention 1o cheat or injure the person fo whom the
false statement was made; Derry v Peek (4). at p.374, and
Peek v Gurney (2), et p 409, Fourchly, it must be proved

thatt the plaintiff kas acted wpon the false satement and has
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sustained damage by so doing: Clurke v. Digkson (7). [am
not of course, atfempiing io make a complete staiement of
the law of deceidl, but omly 10 state the main facts which a

plaintiff muist establish,

[26]  The first allegation, then, by the Plaintiffs is that the First and Second Defendant, with
ihe assistance of the Third Defendant, fraudulently ransferved shares in WG Lid o the
Fiest and Second Defendants. being 44% and 8%, respectively. They allegedly did so by
copying and pasting the Plaintiffs’ signatures onio the 2019 Resolution from a Chinese
agreement.  The problem for the Plaintiffs with their allegations of fraud here is, pul
simply, the two Business Agreements dated 24 June and 25 June 2019, The two
agreements demonstrate that the First and Second Defendants have a legitimate
entitlement 1o the share transfer, Further, the transfer was 1o he made based on financial
contributions already made (ie there was no requirement for the First and Second
Defendants to make any further contributions), Ihe content of the two agreements could
aot be clearer in this regard, The agreement of 24 June 2019 further provided that the
iransfers were to be effected within 7 days (which is consistent with steps taken by kPMG

o behall of WG Lid in late June and July 2019 as per email communications™),

(271 I the PlaintifTs’ disputed the fact of the Chinese agreements of 24 and 25 June 2019
andfor the English translations, then this would need to be determined at trial. However,
e Plaintiffs have accepted the fact of the Chinese agreements. Their position with
respect to the English translations s unclear. The firet named Plaimiff states that the
English transiation of the agreement af 24 June 2009 *requires the signatires uf the
plaintiffs and a notarized certificate before it can effect” ¥ However. the English
rransfation docs not purpert to be anything other than a translation of the Chinese
agreement. The translation does not require the Plaintifls” signatures. Only in the event
thart the Plaintiffs’ dispute the English translation as produced by the Third Defendant will
some consideration need to be given to arranging for an independent and authorized
wransiation, However. Mr Hu does not depose that he disputes the English transiation, In
facr. Mr Hu expressly states at paragraph 40 ¢ of his affidavit dated 5 April 2024 that in
respect to the English translation ‘the plaintiffs herehy confirm that we admir the

conlents

0 Thve Plaingidfs do not dispute these email communications with KPMG: para 36 of Mr Hu's affidavit dated 4 April
2024,
3 para 40 e, 1. of Mr Hu's affidevit for Striking Ot dated 5 Apfi] D024
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[30]

[31]

The agreements of 24 and 25 June 2019 negate the Plaintiffs allegations of fraud against
the First, Second and Third Defendants, I the English translation i correct, then the
Plaintiffs’ claims of fraud in its Statement of Claim cannot succeed. It is as simple as
that. The agreements verify that the First and Second Defendants have a legitimate
entitlernent to the shares in WG Lid. As such. the PlaintifTs are required, for the purposes
of the present summons to strike out, to clearly and unequivocally refute the comrectness
of the English translation of the agreements of 24 and 25 June 2019, They have not done
s0. A% then Master Bull {now Bull 1) stated in Fijd Public Service dssociaiion v Nabong
[2017] FIHC 649 (24 July 2017}, a1t 24

It v mow well setlvd that in evaluating affidavit evidence, the failure fo
contradict an issue, or reply specifically to a material allegation, is treated

ax an gecepiance or admission of fe said Do or olfegation ..

The Plaintiffs" failure wo unambiguously refite the correctness of the English translation
of the two apreements can only be taken as an admission by the Plaintiffs that the
documents are accurate translations. Accordingly, the First and Second Defendants were
entitled to the share transfer of 44% and 8% respectively, The transter was. therefore, not

Mraudulent.

The next allegation of fraud by the Plauintiffs periain to the allegation that the Fiest and
Second Defendants with the Third Defendant's assistance, arranged for 8 share structure
increase. According to the defendants, the changes were authorised by a shareholder

resolution at an extraordinary general meeting, of which notification of the meeting was

provided by email to the first named Plaintiff. The Plaintiffs sccept this evidence.™

In any event, the Plaintiffs have not particularized the alleged fraud here by the First,
Second or Third Defendants. That is, no doubt. because. as counsel for the PlaintilTs’
acknowledyged at the hearing. the allegations are premised on the initial share transfer
having been fraudalent. [ that transfer was not frsudulent, however, then the sllegations
of fraud in respect to the share restructure also cannot be Trandulent, Put another way, 1f
the First and Second Defendants were entitled 1o the share wrunsfer then they were

authorised 1o pass company resolutions effecting a share restructure, There i in my

= ar paragraph H d. of Me Ho's affidovit dated 5 April 2024,
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[32]

[33]

|34]

T A 26

view, another piece of evidence of the Plaintiffs own making that undermine thetr
allegations of fraud. They plead that they did not know of the share transfer.  Thetr
counsel argued at the hearing that the PlaintifTs believed that they remained the majority
shareholder of WG Lid when they were in China from 2019 to 2023, That contention
does not hold water. In their letter to the Registrar of Titles dated 7 January 2021, they
expressly stated ‘fwie are aiso sharcholders in WG International Real Estate Co (Fijil
Lid av o 48% of that company . They were, therefore, aware that they were not the
majority shareholders of WG Lid when they received notification of the extmordinary

meeting in June 2021 to discuss the share restructure.

There remains the allegation of fraud in respect to the sale of the property owned by A
Plus at 193 Queen Flizabeth Drive, The allegation is that the Plaintiffs were unaware of
the sale until their return in April 2023, and as per the pleadings, the First and Third
Defendanis allegediy signed the sale transfer as director and secretary when they had no
such authority to do so. The first named Plaimiff also deposes in his affidavit dated 3
December 2023 that he is a shareholder of A Plus.*

There are several problems for the Plaintiffs here. The first problem. again. is the
agreement of 24 June 2019, The paries expressly agreed in that document that they
would sell the Nasese property and use the sale proceeds for the construction project. The
Plaintiffs are seen, from this document, to have knowledge of the sale from this agreement
conteary to their pleading. Secondly, the Plaintifts” have no locus standi. The Plaintitfs
were not shareholders of A Plus. WG Lud is the shareholder, not the Plaintiffs, 11 there
was any fraud with respect 1o the sale of the Nasese property. it is WG Lid that is harmed
and entitled to recover, not the Plaintiffs. Thirdly, the First and Third Defendants did
have authority to sign the transfer of the property in December 2020 as a resull of
resolutions passed in October 2020 by A Plus, making them directors and expressly

authonzing the sale.

Summary

The Plaintiffs case is steaightforward. The First and Second Defendants forged their

signatures on the 2019 Resolution, They could not have signed the Resolution as they
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teft Fiji on & July 2019 and the signatures were purported|y sipned on 28 July 2019, The
forged document was used by the First and Second Diefendants to have their share transfer
registered by the Registear of Companies. With their fraudulent!y acquired shareholding
the First and Second Defendants, with the assistance of the Third Defendant, were then

able to arrange for the share restructure,

With the exception, perhaps, of the allegation of the forged document each thread of the
Plaintiffs allegations pertaining to the fraud has been shown by the First and Third
Mefendants to be untrue (on uncontested or admitted evidence). The most damning piece
of evidence against the Plaintiffs’ allegations are the Business Agreements dated 24 and
35 June 2019, The allegation of the forged signatures does not suffice by itself to establish
that the share transfer was fraudulent. Even if the signatures were forged, the First and
Second Defendants were entitled to the share transfer. They were not required Lo make

any cash investment,

That being the case, to my mind the only issue is whether the circumstances of this case
amount to an apparently weak case that is unlikely to succeed but should be left 10 go w
irial. af the cause of action of fraud is %o untenable so as to justify striking it out. 1.am
satlsfied that it is the latter. The agreements of 24 and 23 June 2019 are futal to ench
allegation of fraud against the First. Second and Third L fendunts pertaining to the shane
wransfer and restructure in WG Lid as well as the sale of the property at 193 Queen
Elizabeth Drive. Fusther reinforcing that view has been the conduct of the Plaintiffs.
Firstly. their failure o plead the fact of the agrecments of 24 and 25 June 2019 which.
surely, they must have realised was faial 1o their ¢laim. Secondly. their failure to produce
(in any of these interlocutory applications, including their own earlier ex parte summaons
for injunctive relief) the Chinese agreements of 26 and 28 July 2019, which are

fundamental to their allegations of fraud =

The reselt, in my view, is that the PlaintifTs simply cannot succeed with their cause of
action in fraud against the First, Second and Third Defendants, With the Plaintifls
Statement of Clsim stripped of its claim in fraud, the proceedings are reduced to the

following allegations:

M | pam mot suee why the Plaingiffs meeded 10 have been in Fiji to sign the Resolution.  The Delendams signiad the
same document in Aprl 2010 so there was no need for them o have heen in the same country when the Plaintiffs
signied the documenl.

= Pleaded at parsgraphs |1 and 16 0f the Statement of Claimm,
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[39)

[40]

.

The filing of the share trunsfer by the Thicd Defendant in June 2020 was in breach
of s 242 of the Companies Act 2003 and reg 10 of the Companies Regulations
2015,

The First and Third Defendants caused forms 1o be filed with the Registrar of
Companies on 24 June 2020, 3 June 2022 and 27 Okctober 2022 in breach of the

rules of filing company documents,”’

The Registrar of Companies was negligent, reckless or indifferem with respect to
recording the changes to WG Lid without verifying the legitimacy of the filed

documents,*

The First and Third Defendants broke into a safe located at the property at 193
(Jueen Elizabeth Drive and stole the Plaintiffs” valuables, including jewelry, in the
amount of $196.400.~

The Plaintiffs® allegations in [37] are bare in their deils and require  better
particularization. | am faced with the question whether to strike out the entire claim or
permit the PlaintilTs an opportunity to provide further and better particulars in respect 10
these allegations. | am eonscious that striking out an entire claim should oaly be made in

rarc Cascs.

While | have & concern about the Plaintiffs failure to disclose material facts in their
pleadings. thus raising the issue as 1o whether their claim has been browght in good faith
and for proper purposes, | will permit the Plaintiffs an opportunity to file an Amended
Statement of Claim removing their allegations of fraud™ and providing further and betier

particulars of the allegations in [37] above

SUMMONS TO SET ASIDE INTERIM INJUCTIONS

Ms. Tivao. for the Second and Third Defendams. made the following arguments:

 Paragraphs 10, 15, and possible 20 of the Statement oF Claim

" Paragraph 43 of Sugenen of Claim,

¥ Puragraph 22 of Statement of Claim.

* pyragraphs 41 and 42 of Statement of Claim,

1 AL paragraphs 918, 20, 36, 3940, & 44-48 of the Starement of Claim. The Plaintiffs relief will also need to be
amended to reflect the changes.
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The Plaintiffs had a duty, on un ex-parte application for injunctive relief, to inform
the Court of all material facts relevant to the application. The Plaintifts failed to
discharge this duty. They failed to disclose the Business Agreements. They failed
lo inform the Court of the equity swap that entitled the Second Defendant to the
%% shareholding in WG Ld,

The Plaintiffs have misled the Court with respect to their underisking as 1o
damages. No details are provided in the affidavit of the Plaintif's financial ability
to pay any damages. For example, no bank account details are provided and no

indication of any assets,

[41] Mr. Jamnadas, for the First Defendant. provided lengthy and careful submissions,

summarized as follows:

He described the Plaintiff's actions as akin to a magician. He stated that they
have placed a lot of irrelevant information before the Court in order o deceive
but they have failed to supply the most important information in this cuse. He
described this conduct as a blatant deception by the Plaintiffs. He submitted
that the interim injunction should be set aside in their entivety with indemnity

costs against the PlaintifTs.

He submited that the Plaintiffs have been deflective. By way of an example,
he referrad o Mr William Wi, whoe was allegedly the Plaintiff's agent and a
person trusted by the Plaintiffs. He stated that a number of e-mails and
communications provided by the First Defendant, annexed to his affidavil.
demonstrate that Mr. Wi was aware of the sale of the Nasese property and the
iransfer of shares in WG Ltd in 2019, This undermined the Plaintiff's

allepations of fraud and their alleged hack of knowledge.
He submitted that a party cannot mislead the court and expect equitable relief,

He referred 1o several instances between January 2021 and May 2023 where
the Plaintiffs accepted that they had a 48% sharcholding in WG Lid and,
therefore, must have been aware of the transfer. This negated any allegation

O froed.
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v, He submitted that the Plaintiffs” undertaking as to damages was no undertaking
at all. The first named Plaintiff claims to be a chairperson of a company in

China but Mr Jamnadas argued that this does not equate to any financial worth.

[42] Mz Tosokiwai. for the Plaintiffs, stated that she did not accept that the Plaintifls did not
have clean hands. She stated that the PlaintifTs claim is based almost entirely on the forged
2019 Resolution in that the Plaintiffs signatures could not have been made as their travel

documents show they were not in Fiji at the time.

Decision on summons 1o set aside interim injunction

[43] In Seguitur Hotels PTY Ltd v Satori Holdings PTE Lidf [2020] FIHC 276 {3 April 2020}
Stuart ] cited!! the following passages from the English Court of Appeal decision in
Brinky Mai Ligd v Eleombe [ 1988] 1 WLR 1350, at 1356:

In considering whether there hay heen relevant non-diselosure and what
comsequences the court showld atrach to any failwre to comply with the duty
tor metke fiull and frank disclosure, the principles relevand to the issaes in

these appeals appear fo me to Include the followving.

1. The duty of the applicant to make o 'fill and foir disclosure of all the

mrterial facis ..

5. If material non-disclosure is established, the court will be ‘astide 1o
enstire that o plaimiff who obiaing (an ex parte infusction) without full
disclosure ... iv deprived of any advantage be may have devived by that
Broach of duty. ...

[44]  On an ex parte application “the applicani has a duty of candour ' 2 Ungquestionahly, the
failure by the Plaintiffs w0 draw this Courts attention to the fact and content of the
agreements of 24 and 25 June 2019 {during the hearing of the ex parte application) is

unfathomable. The agréements of 24 and 25 June 2019 are central 1o, and undermine,

. e
2 Madsen v Durmadi [2024] NSWSE 76,
F'I]-g: X4 ..11' 1



[43]

[46]

[47]

their allegations of fraud, That will be clear from my decision on the summaons to strike
out the claim. can only conclude that the omission by the Plaintiffs was deliberate.  The
failure to disclose and/or produce the agreements was a material non-disclosure by the

Plaintiffs. The failure justifies setting aside the interim injuncrions.

A further reason for this Court to dissolve the injunctive orders stems from the Plaintiffs’
affidavit containing their undertaking as to damages. In my carlier judgment granting the

injunctive orders, | stated that the decision was subject to the following:

Fhe Maintiffs are o file and serve by or before 4pm on 19 fanwary 2024 an
affidavii providing an undertaking ov (o damages for Hhese Literim
infunciion orders and supplving information demonstrasing their abilite o

salisfy sheh underraking,

The first named Plaintiff deposed such an affidavit on 18 January 2024, The matter of
setting out a deponent’s financial circumstances, in order 1o demonsirate their ability 1o
pay damages, ought to be straightforward. Their financial ability may be demonstrated
by way of bank statements or titles to property, or other assets. No such detsils are
provided by the Plaintiffs. Indeed, | om wnable to glean the Plaintffs’ financial
circumstances from the content of the affidavit for the first named Plaintiff, As such, |
cannot accept that he has demonstrated the Plaintifts” ability to satisfy any undertaking

as to damages.

Oreders

Accordingly, | make the following orders:

i. The Court’s Injunctive orders of 19 December 2023 are dissolved.

il The Plaintiffs’ pleadings in their Statement of Claim with respect to the allegations

of fraud against the First, Second and Third Defendants are struck out.*?

ii. The Plaintiffs are to file an Amended Statement of Claim by 30 August 2024.*

" G [39], footnme 30,
U Gew [39].
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iv. The First Delendant is entithed (o costs summarily assessed in the amount of $2,5(0)

to be paid by the Plaintifts within 30 days.

v. The Second and Third Defendant are entitled 1o costs summarily assessed in the

amount of $4,000 to be paid by the PlaintifTs within 30 days,
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